IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 89,022

TERRELL M. JOHNSON,

Appellant,

v.

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH, Attorney General, State of Florida,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Litigation Director Florida Bar No. 0754773

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32301 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This is an action for disclosure of public records pursuant to chapter 119 of the Florida Statutes and <u>Bradv v. Maryland</u>.

On January 10, 1995, Mr. Johnson mailed a formal request for the disclosure of public records to the Office of the Attorney General pursuant to chapter 119 of the Florida Statutes and Brady_v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

In a letter dated February 9, 1995, the Attorney General refused to provide Mr. Johnson access to the public records requested. On August 10, 1995, Appellant filed a complaint for disclosure of public records in the Second Judicial Circuit Court, Leon County, Florida.

On September 9, 1995, a status conference was held on the complaint. On October 3, 1996, Appellee filed a Motion to Strike Demand for Jury Trial and Schedule In Camera Proceeding and a Motion to Dismiss in Part and Motion for More Definite Statement.

On October 16, 1995, Appellee filed a Notice of Providing

Access to Public Records. On October 16, 1995, the Court entered an order regarding discovery. On October 17, 1995, a hearing was held on the Appellee's motions and proposed orders were generated. The Attorney General took the position that it had no obligation to disclose Brady material because it was not a prosecutorial agency,

On October 19, 1995, Appellee filed a Motion to Stay explaining that counsel for Mr. Johnson and the Attorney General had begun to make arrangements for inspection of the file. That

motion was heard on November 9, 1995. Counsel for Mr. Johnson did not oppose the Motion in light of the fact that access to the requested Attorney General's files had been offered during the course of the litigation. On November 22, 1995 the Court entered an order granting a stay.

On October 30, 1995 the Court signed an order on Appellee's Motion to Dismiss in Part and Motion for Definite Statement and Motion to Strike Demand for Jury Trial noting that the Motion for More Definite Statement and the demand for a jury trial had been withdrawn. The Order stated that the Attorney General is obligated to disclose Bradv material and that Mr. Johnson should file an Amended Complaint within 20 days in conformity with the Order. On November 1, 1995, Appellee filed a Motion to Reconsider the Court's verbal order of October 17, 1995. On November 9, 1995 a hearing was held on Appellee's Motion to Reconsider. That motion was denied, but the Appellee's request that the Order be clarified was granted. The Order clarifying was entered on May 21, 1996.

On May 20, 1996, the Appellee also filed a Motion to Dismiss. Appellant was ordered to file his Amended Complaint. That Amended Complaint was filed on May 24, 1996. Appellee answered the complaint on May 28, 1996 and thereafter withdrew his Motion to Dismiss. On July 2, 1996, the Attorney General submitted, to the trial court, copies of the documents which it was withholding from Mr. Johnson. The Complaint was heard on July 16, 1996. At that hearing, the Court conducted in camera

inspection of the copies of the documents withheld from disclosure. Thereafter the Court denied the Complaint, ruling that Mr. Johnson is not entitled the inspect the withheld material because they were either exempt from disclosure or not public record. At that hearing, Mr. Johnson challenged the Attorney General's reliance of section 119.07(3) (1); whether the exemptions claimed by the Attorney General justify withholding the documents; and whether the Attorney General properly claimed exemptions withholding documents.

Proposed final orders were drafted and submitted by both parties. On July 29, 1996, the Court signed the Attorney General's proposed order. Appellant filed a Motion for Rehearing which was denied. Thereafter, a timely Notice of Appeal was filed.

A Motion to Determine Indigency to Appeal was filed by Mr. Johnson in the trial court. On September 17, 1996, the Attorney General filed a response opposing Mr. Johnson's motion. On October 2, 1996 the trial Court denied Mr. Johnson's motion and directed him to renew his motion with the documentation required by section 57.085 of the Florida Statutes. That section along with other amendments to chapter 57 became law as part of the Inmate Lawsuits Act effective July 1, 1996.

On October 14, 1996, Mr. Johnson filed a Motion for Rehearing/Motion to Alter or Amend. The trial court granted that Motion on October 15, 1996 and declared Mr. Johnson insolvent for purposes of appeal. On October 18, 1996, the Attorney General

filed a Motion in this Court for Review of Indigency Determination. On November 4, 1996, Appellant filed his Response to that Motion. On December 16, 1996, Appellee filed a Renewed Motion for Review of Indigency Determination on the basis of a recent change of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. Appellee therein stated that based on that new rule it no longer sought outright denial of indigency status, but did seek Appellant's compliance with the amendments to section 57.085. On March 19, 1997, this Court issued an order stating that the "motion of Terrell Johnson to be adjudged indigent is granted. Terrell Johnson is adjudged indigent for the purposes of this The motion of the Attorney General to require monthly payments of costs in compliance with Section 57. 085(5), Florida Statutes, is denied. The Court has determined that Terrell Johnson has ten cents in his trust account."

Meanwhile on October 11, 1996, the Attorney General filed a Motion to Consolidate this appeal with the appeal in <u>Krawczuk v.</u>

<u>Butterworth</u>, Case No 89,079. Mr. Johnson opposed that motion and on November 4, 1996, that motion was denied.

Appellant's brief was scheduled to be filed on or before

April 11, 1997. Appellant filed an Unopposed Motion for Twenty
One Day Extension of Time in Which to File Initial Brief. On

April 4, 1997 that Motion was granted making this brief due to be

filed by May 2, 1997. On May 2, 1997, Appellant filed a Motion

to Supplement the Record, Motion to Temporarily Relinquish

Jurisdiction to the Circuit Court, and Motion to Toll Time.

On May 19, 1997, this Court granted the Motion to Toll Time and ordered the record to be supplemented with the transcript of the final hearing held on July 16, 1996 and the Appellee's Notice of Submitting Documents dated July 2, 1996. All other requests by Appellant were denied and the Court ordered this brief be filed within five (5) days of receipt of the supplemental record. On June 20, 1997, Appellant filed the original transcript of the July 16, 1997 hearing in the circuit court.. On July 3, 1997, Appellant received the index to the supplemental record. The Court then ordered this brief filed by July 11, 1997. Appellant requested but was not provided an actual copy of the record on appeal. Counsel has relied on the indexes to provide this Court with citations to the record. This brief is timely filed.

On July 2, 1997, Appellant received Appellee's Renewed Motion to Dismiss and Motion to Accept Documents as Supplements to Record on Appeal. Appellant will respond separately to those Motions.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Section 119.07(3)(1) violates due process and equal protection when it denies Mr. Johnson access to requested materials requested "for purposes of capital collateral litigation." Based on the plain language of the statute, if an individual requested the same materials, access could not be denied on the basis of 119.07(3)(1) If the request was not "for purposes of capital collateral litigation."

The trial court erroneously held that items withheld by the State were not public records. Notes, preliminary drafts, working drafts, or any document prepared in connection with the official business of an agency that is to perpetuate, communicate or formalize knowledge are subject to disclosure under chapter 119. Notes that are intended as evidence of knowledge obtained in the transaction of agency business are public records.

Further, the State failed to establish that the withheld materials are not public records.

The trial court erred in holding that it did review the withheld documents for <u>Brady</u> material, even though the court ruled that the State was obligated to disclose <u>Brady</u> material. The Court's order was erroneous because it had stated on the record it did not review the material for <u>Brady</u>. The court's action leaves Mr. Johnson without a forum in which he can litigate the State's obligation under <u>Brady</u> despite the Court's written order to the contrary,

ARGUMENT

ARGUMENT I

THE LOWER COURT'S INTERPRETATION OF SECTION 119.07(3)(1), FLORIDA STATUTES IS ERRONEOUS. ON ITS FACE AND AS APPLIED TO THIS CASE, THE SECTION VIOLATES DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION BY DENYING MR. JOHNSON ACCESS TO REQUESTED MATERIALS REQUESTED "FOR PURPOSES OF CAPITAL COLLATERAL LITIGATION." BASED ON THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF THE STATUTE, IF AN INDIVIDUAL REQUESTED THE SAME MATERIALS, ACCESS COULD NOT BE DENIED ON THE BASIS OF 119.07(3)(1) IF THE REQUEST WAS NOT "FOR PURPOSES OF CAPITAL COLLATERAL LITIGATION."

The lower court's interpretation of section 119.07(3)(1), Florida Statutes is erroneous. The section on its face and as applied to Mr. Johnson violates due process and equal protection. Moreover, the section interferes with Mr. Johnson's right to the effective assistance of postconviction counsel.

Section 119.07(3)(1) states that:

A public record which was prepared by an agency attorney . . which reflects a mental impression, conclusion, litigation strategy, or legal theory ... is exempt from the provisions of subsection (1) and s. 24(a) Art. I of the State Constitution... until the conclusion of the litigation... For purposes of capital collateral litigation as set forth in s. 27.7001, the Attorney General's office is entitled to claim this exemption ... until execution of sentence or imposition of a life sentence.

§ 119.07(3)(1), Fla. Stat. (1996).

Section 27.7001, Florida Statute (1996) is the Capital Collateral Representative's enabling statute. Section 27.7001 applies to "any person convicted and sentenced to death in this state who is unable to secure counsel due to indigency."

Appellant argued below that this new section of chapter 119 treats public records requests made by CCR lawyers and investigators on behalf of death sentenced inmates, for the purpose of capital collateral litigation, differently from requests made by other persons or for other purposes. The lower court found that the statute does not violate equal protection or due process by erroneously interpreting the statute to avoid the necessity of constitutional scrutiny. In doing so, the lower court engaged in improper statutory construction:

Nothing on the face of the statute so limits the Attorney General's ability to claim the exemption. Johnson's reading would render the exemption meaningless, by making the statute simple to evade. This Court cannot so interpret the challenged statute. The exemption is available to the Attorney General's office regardless of the source of the public records request. Therefore, the statute does not violate equal protection or due process.

Johnson also contends the 1995 amendment to the work product exemption, now codified within § 119.07(3) (1), cannot be applied retroactively to public records requests made before its effective date. The Florida Supreme Court has recently said otherwise.

Roberts v. Butterworth, 668 So.2d 580, 582 (Fla. 1996). The 1995 amendment applies to Krawczuk's request for access to public records.

(R. 146-47) (emphasis added).

In so ruling, the lower court disregarded the fundamnetal rules of statutory construction.

Where, as here, the legislature has not defined the words used in a phrase, the language should usually be given its plain and ordinary meaning. Southeastern Fisheries Ass'n, Inc. v. Department of Natural Resources, 453 So.2d 1351 (Fla.1984).

Nevertheless, consideration must be accorded not only to the literal and usual meaning of the words, but also to their meaning and effect on the objectives and purposes of the statute's enactment. See Florida State Racing Comm'n v. McLaughlin, 102 So.2d 574 (Fla.1958). Indeed, "[i]t is a fundamental rule of statutory construction that legislative intent is the polestar by which the court must be guided [in construing enactments of the legislature]." State v. Webb, 398 So.2d 820, 824 (Fla.1981).

Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Ass'n v.

Florida Div. of Administrative Hearings, 686 So. 2d 1349, 1354

(Fla. 1997).

This Court has also explained:

When interpreting a statute, courts must determine legislative intent from the plain meaning of the statute. See St. Petersburg Bank & Trust Co. v. Hamm, 414 So. 2d 1071 (Fla. 1982). If the language of the statute is clear and unambiguous, a court must derive legislative intent from the words used without involving rules of construction or speculating as to what the legislature intended. See Zuckerman v. Alter, 615 So. 2d 661 (Fla. 1993).

State v. Dugan, 685 So. 2d 1210, 1212 (Fla. 1996).

The plain meaning of section 119.07(3)(1) could not be more clear. The statute reads that "for purposes of capital collateral litigation as set forth in s. 27.7001, the Attorney General's office is entitled to claim this exemption ... until execution of sentence or imposition of a life sentence."

Moreover, the legislative history reveals the purpose and objective of the section and legislature's intent when it was drafted:

HB 2701 also amends the exemption to allow

the attorney general's office to claim such an exemption for records developed by an attorney from the attorney general's office in a capital collateral litigation case when such records are prepared for direct appeal as well as for all capital collateral litigation after direct appeal until execution of sentence or imposition of a life sentence. The premature disclosure of this information could be detrimental to the attorney seneral's legal representation in these proceedings if the material were disclosed prior to final disposition of the post-conviction proceedings, thus interring with the effective and efficient administration of government. Furthermore, a capital defendant's ability to secure other public records is not diminished by nondisclosure of these attorney work products. See State v. Kokal, 562 So.2d 324, 327 (Fla. 1990) (with resard to the states attorney, "the conclusion of litigation" with respect to a criminal conviction and sentence occurs when that conviction and sentence have become final).

Section 119.07(3) (1) applies to persons who request records from the Office of the Attorney General for the purposes of "capital collateral litigation," and until the conclusion of the litigation. This provision, on its face and as applied below, violates the Florida and United States constitutional guarantees to due process and equal protection as well as the constitutional right of access to public records in Florida.

Section 119.07(1) (a), F.S., establishes a right of access to public records in plain and unequivocal terms:

Every person who has custody of a public record shall permit the record to be inspected and examined by any person desiring to do so, at any reasonable time, under reasonable conditions, and under supervision by the custodian of the public record or the custodian's designee. The custodian shall furnish a copy or a certified copy of the

record upon payment of the fee prescribed by law . . . and for all other copies, upon payment of the actual cost of duplication of the record.

The lower court's interpretation of the statute must fail as it has no basis in the plain language or legislative intent. The statute successfully says exactly what the legislative history reveals it means to say: that any person requesting chapter 119 materials from the Office of the Attorney General may be denied access to some materials is there purpose is "capital collaterial litigation." The lower court's effort to protect the statute from constitutional scrutiny by essentially re-writing it should fail and the statute should be subjected to that scrutiny. Once subjected, the statute's failure to pass constitutional muster is evident.

Section 119.01, Florida Statutes, provides that "[i]t is the policy of this state, county, and municipal records shall at all times be open for personal inspection by any person." A public employee is a person within the meaning of chapter 119, Florida Statutes and, as such, possesses the same right of inspection as any other person. Op. Atty. Gen. Fla. 75-175 (1975). Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, requires no showing of purpose or "special interest" as a condition of access to public records. See, State ex rel. Davis v. McMillan, 38 So. 666 (Fla. 1905) (abstract companies may copy documents from the clerk's office for their own use and sell copies to the public for a profit); News-Press Publishins Company, Inc. v. Gadd, 388 So. 2d 276 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980); and warden v. Bennett, 340 So. 2d 977 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976).

"Even though a public agency may believe that a person or group are fanatics, harassers or are extremely annoying, the public records are available to all of the citizens of the State of Florida." Salvador v. City of Stuart, No. 91-812 CA (Fla. 19th Cir. Ct. December 17, 1991). "[A]s long as the citizens of this state desire and insist upon 'open government' and liberal public records disclosure, as a cost of that freedom public officials have to put up with demanding citizens even when they are obnoxious as long as they violate no laws." State v. Colby, No. MM96-317A-XX (Fla. Highlands Co. Ct. May 23, 1996).

As the court stated in Lorei v. Smith, 464 So. 2d 1330, 1332 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), review denied, 475 So. 2d 695 (Fla. 1985):

The legislative objective underlying the creation of chapter 119 was to insure to the people of Florida the right freely to gain access to governmental records. The purpose for such inquiry is immaterial.

See also, State ex rel. Davidson v. Couch, 156 So. 297, 299 (Fla. 1934); Op. Atty. Gen. Fla. 73-167 (1973) (a person may inspect records maintained by the Department of Banking and Finance without being required to show a special interest herein); and Op. Atty. Gen. Fla. 72-413 (1972) (a private person may inspect and copy worthless check affidavits without demonstrating a "personal interest" in such records),

Sections 119.07 (3) (1) and the lower Court's application of it to Mr. Johnson, violate due process and equal protection. The requirements of due process apply to state postconviction proceedings. See Evitts v. Lucev, 469 U.S. 387 (1985); Huff v.

State, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993). In keeping with due process, state courts must apply rules in a way that provides "a fair opportunity to obtain an adjudication on the merits of [an] appeal." Evitts, 469 U.S. at 405.

Here, the new work product exemption treats public records requests made for the purpose of capital collateral litigation CCR differently from requests made for other purposes.

The legislative history does not provide a rational basis for why disclosure of public records "interfer[es] with the effective and efficient administration of government" but the disclosure of the public records in a non-capital setting does "interfer[] with the effective and efficient administration of government." Moreover, the legislative history does not explain why the exemption only exists for "capital collateral litigation as set forth in §27.7001" and not for all capital collateral litigation as defined in Rule 3.851. This determination does not rely upon anything in the language of the statute or in the legislative history. A court may not create a rational basis for legislation. See McGinnis v. Rovster, 410 U.S. 263, 277 (1973).

There is no rational basis for exemptions to arise only for persons who request the materials for the purpose of capital collateral litigation.

Moreover, this new chapter 119 provision interferes with Mr. Johnson's right to effective assistance of appellate counsel, CCR is required by law to provide effective legal representation to all death row inmates in postconviction proceedings. §

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