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

Both points are meritless. The 1995 amendment to the attorney work product exemption expressly allows the Attorney General's office to keep certain documents confidential until a death sentence is imposed or reduced to life. There is no requirement that the documents pertain to a current motion for postconviction relief, or that the documents be a preliminary version. Also, in many instances, an attorney's personal notes will never be compiled into a "final version," such as when the notes are an outline for a hearing. There would be no final version for comparison.

All work product within an active postconviction file is exempt, regardless of whether it is a preliminary or final version. Also, the fact that a postconviction file is active is sufficient to keep work product confidential. <u>Kokal</u>. There is no requirement that the confidential material relate to a current--as opposed to a previously denied-motion for postconviction relief. Also, CCR's propensity for raising procedurally-barred issues--as illustrated by this Court's decision denying Johnson's habeas petition-

-often makes work done for an earlier postconviction motion equally useful for a successive motion.

Finally, it would be absurd to conclude that material relating to an inmate's past efforts at postconviction relief would be subject to disclosure, when older material from direct appeal would not be. Johnson advances an unreasonable interpretation of the attorney work product exemption, which would defeat the public policy underlying the 1995 amendment.

Johnson's last point contends the "State failed to segregate what is exempt and what is not." (initial brief, p. 23) This point is not preserved, as it was not raised in any of the written pleadings below, or specifically urged at the final hearing. See Roberts, 668 So. 2d at 582 (argument that confidentiality of clemency materials was waived through their release by Governor's Office not preserved when argument not made below), *quoting* Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332,338 (Fla.1982) ("[I]n order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below."). Moreover, Appellee claimed all portions of the withheld documents were exempt. Simple inspection of those documents (particularly item [t]) reveals that any non-exempt portions were de *minimis*, and that they would be meaningless if segregated from the exempt portions.

To reiterate, Johnson does not urge the absence of competent, substantial evidence. He merely disagrees with the trial court's factual findings. The Court should summarily affirm on this issue.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT, BY EXAMINING THE WITHHELD DOCUMENTS FOR EXCULPATORY MATTER, PROPERLY RESPONDED TO APPELLANT'S NON-SPECIFIC REFERENCE TO BRADY v. MARYLAND

A. Introduction

Initially, Appellee will respond to the troublesome manner in which Johnson's argument begins. It quotes most--but omits a significant part--of the transmittal letter³ for the proposed final order Appellee submitted to the trial court.

On its face, the letter explained that the proposed order was Appellee's version, and that it reflected the undersigned's understanding of the trial court's ruling. The letter noted opposing counsel would be submitting a proposed order, which Johnson did. (See initial brief at p. 24, noting that "both parties submitted proposed orders.")

The letter itself never appears in the record. Instead, it is <u>incompletely</u> quoted in Johnson's Aug. 8, 1996, "Motion for Rehearing/Motion to Alter or Amend." (R1-151-156). Johnson's reliance on the letter is improper because it is not record material. See <u>Altchiler v. State. Dept. of Professional Regulation</u>, 442 So.2d 349,350

³A a complete copy of the letter is attached to this brief as Appendix C.

(Fla. 1 st DCA 1983) ("That an appellate court may not consider matters outside the record is so elemental that there is no excuse for any attorney to attempt to bring such matters before the court.").

Simple comparison of the letter as quoted in Johnson's initial brief with the letter itself reveals Johnson does not quote the letter in its entirety, but omits the final phrase indicating a copy was sent to "plaintiffs counsel." Thus, Johnson falsely gives the appearance of an *exparte* communication.

The letter was indeed received by Johnson's counsel, as it was incompletely quoted in his motion for rehearing. (R1-152) As noted above, the letter clearly indicated Johnson would be submitting his version of a proposed order, etc. Therefore, this Court need not entertain the concerns it expressed in Rose v. State, 60 1 So.2d 118 1, 1182 (Fla. 1992) (appearance of impropriety arose when old, but not new, counsel was served with proposed order differing materially from the State's earlier position as to the need for a postconviction evidentiary hearing).

The final order, as entered by the trial court, came after an evidentiary hearing which included *an in camera* inspection of the withheld documents. Johnson had the opportunity to argue all of the points he raises now. He cannot claim any due process violation through the lower court's adoption of Appellee's proposed order. See Groover v. State 640 So.2d 1077, 1078 (Fla. 1994) (although defendant did not have

chance to prepare an alternative order, there was no due process violation when counsel had an opportunity to argue all issues in a brief responding to the State's motion to dismiss and in a hearing before the trial court signed the order).; Hardwick v. Dugger, 648 So.2d 100, 104 (Fla. 1994) ("this case is unlike Rose where the trial court adopted the State's proposed order denying postconviction relief without providing the defendant's counsel notice").

B. No **Brady** Claim is Fairly Presented by this **Appeal**

Appellee will contend the trial court responded to Johnson's <u>Brady</u> claim reasonably under the circumstances, and that the trial court gave Johnson more process than he was due. This Court need not, however, reach the merits; as Johnson did not fairly present a <u>Brady</u> claim below.

In the original complaint, Johnson's reliance on <u>Brady v. Maryland</u> was never more than a simple citation to that decision. (See complaint, R1-2, ¶8) He never alleged that specific exculpatory material existed, much less that such material was being withheld. At most, the original complaint "raised only a general request for exculpatory material under Brady." <u>Roberts v. Butterworth</u>, 668 So.2d 580,582 (Fla. 1996). Therefore, Appellee's decision not to release any documents as <u>Brady</u> material was final. See *id.* at 582:

it is the State that decides which information must be disclosed" and unless defense counsel brings to the court's attention that exculpatory evidence was withheld, "the prosecutor's decision on disclosure is final." *Pennsylvania v. Ritchie*, 480 U.S. 39, 59, 107 S.Ct. 989, 1002, 94 L.Ed.2d 40 (1987).

In fact, Appellee moved to dismiss the complaint to the extent it relied on **Brady** to state a separate cause of action. (R1-2 1-22) Dismissal was granted, albeit with the trial court's instruction that Appellee was still "obligated to disclose **Brady** material." (R1-50) Later, the order of dismissal was clarified. The trial court stood fast with its initial determination that Appellee was obligated to disclose **Brady** material. However, the trial court correctly recognized it lacked jurisdiction to grant relief based on **Brady**. (See the May 2 1, 1996 "Order Clarifying the Order of October 30, 1995" attached hereto as Appendix D.)

On appeal, Johnson does not seek review of the order dismissing his first complaint. His real barrier to relief, however, is the parallel failure of the <u>amended</u> complaint to allege facts which would give rise to a <u>Brady elaienv</u> ant part, the amended complaint alleged only:

- 5. Mr. Johnson seeks disclosure of material withheld by an agency of the State of Florida, the Office of the Attorney General.
- 7. Plaintiff mailed to the Defendant a formal request for the disclosure of public records, pursuant to chapter 119 of the Florida Statutes, and <u>Bradv v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). [Johnson's attachment omitted]

(RI-103)

Even when construed liberally, the quoted language does not allege any facts which would establish a **Bradkoekainnot** describe any particular documents; claim the documents were exculpatory and material to the outcome of trial; or contend the State had not disclosed such documents earlier and the documents could not have been discovered with due diligence. This is not an unreasonable burden, at least for purposes of pleading. See e.g., **Scott v. State**, 657 **So.2d** 1129, 1130 (Fla. 1995) (describing in detail allegations as to two statements and a medical examiner's photograph urged to constitute "newly discovered evidence"). Had Johnson met this burden of pleading, the trial court's *in camera* review would have resolved any dispute as to the existence of facially exculpatory material.

However, as his <u>Brady</u> claim was never more than a lone citation, Johnson's amended complaint cannot be construed as an alleging that Appellee was withholding exculpatory material which constituted newly discovered evidence. Therefore, the trial court was never placed on notice as to any specific <u>Brady</u> relaimn's a mended discovered evidence as mended of the Attorney General's continuing obligation to disclose <u>Brady</u> material.

Thus, the trial court, under the allegations of the original and amended complaints, lacked jurisdiction even to review the withheld documents for <u>Brady</u> material. The trial court could **not** have, for example, compelled Appellee to produce

all relevant files for a de *novo* inspection for **Brady** nsatetial by the coburt. the etrial court-to the best of its ability, given that Johnson was tried elsewhere-kept an eye out for obvious exculpatory material; thereby affording more process than was due. In the process, the court made this candid observation:

The Court reiterates that it is very difficult to determine if any individual document is exculpatory, given that Johnson was tried elsewhere and this Court cannot be expected to have the trial court's familiarity wit the entire record.

(R1-147) Having received more process than was due, based on a claim that was not fairly presented, Johnson cannot be heard to complain.

C. Any Brady Claim is Procedurally Barred

If deemed fairly presented through sufficient factual allegations, Johnson's Brady claim'is procedurally barred by this Court's decision in Johnson v. Sinaletary, 22 Fla.L.Weekly S3 1 (Fla. Dec. 19, 1997) revised 22 Fla.L.Weekly S339. In Johnson, this Court denied habeas relief. In doing so, it recounted 18 years of litigation, including the 1992 denial of postconviction relief; and rejected twenty-three issues as procedurally barred or meritless. Notably, the plethora of issues did not include a single Brady claim, or claim for relief based on newly discovered evidence.

Again, Johnson's original complaint was dismissed to the extent it relied on Bradbynas as separate earns de estactions complaint (R1 - 102 through

122); but, with regard to <u>Brady</u>, alleged only:

Plaintiff mailed to the Defendant a formal request for the disclosure of public records, pursuant to chapter 119 of the Florida Statutes, and <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). [plaintiffs attachment omitted]

 $(R1-103, \P7)$

This conclusory observation does not set forth <u>facts</u> which would establish a <u>Brady</u> violation. It does not allege the state withheld exculpatory evidence; that the evidence was material; that it would have affected the outcome of trial or sentencing; and that it could not have been discovered with due diligence. Most important, it does not allege any of the withheld documents would constitute "newly discovered evidence." Absent such allegations, this Court's recent decision in Johnson--if not its earlier decision affirming denial of postconviction relief--would procedurally bar any future attempt by him to obtain postconviction relief in the court where he was tried.

A second procedural bar arises through the express language of § 119.07(9), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1996):

[t]his section may not be used by any inmate as the basis for failing to timely litigate any postconviction action.

By raising <u>Brady</u> through a very belated public records request, Johnson directly contravenes §119.07(9). Given the two procedural bars, Johnson's bare reference to <u>Brady</u> in the amended complaint presents no ground for relief and is moot.

D. Resaonse on Merits

In the absence of sufficient factual allegations, the trial court could have held it lacked jurisdiction to review the withheld documents for <u>Bradys</u> material.d , the e court looked for obvious exculpatory material and declared:

Although the Court has not read each word of the withheld documents, the Court is satisfied no <u>Brady</u> materials were withheld from disclosure.

(RI-147) The trial court then acknowledged the practical **difficulties** it faced. (R1 - 147) Notably, even Johnson does not suggest how a Leon County judge would be able to tell if a facially exculpatory document was material and not previously disclosed.

It would be totally absurd to require the court below, while resolving a public records dispute, to become familiar with a death case record to the same extent as the trial and sentencing court, See <u>Asay</u>, 613 So.2d at 861 (addressing policy concerns for not allowing all inmate <u>Brady</u> claims to be brought in the Second Judicial Circuit) (Kogan, J., concurring). The disputed documents themselves, provide competent, substantial evidence supporting the trial court's finding that no <u>Brady</u> material was withheld. That finding must be <u>affirmed</u>.

E. Miscellaneous Points

Johnson erects a straw man and tears it down without consequence. He relies on this Court's decision in <u>Hoffman v. State</u>, 613 So.2d 405 (Fla. 1992), for the

undisputed proposition that the Leon County Circuit Court had jurisdiction over his chanter 119 action against Appellee. (initial brief, p. 27) However, nothing in Hoffman did, or could, confer jurisdiction on the Leon County Circuit Court to grant Brader relief to Assayurderer triedFin a different circuid. a __. & -_ o __l __e Commission. 649 So.2d 859 (Fla. 1994):

By its own terms, **Ho&an** only addressed chapter 119 issues and did not establish venue in the Second Judicial Circuit for a *Brady* records request made to the Clemency Board.

Id. at 861 (Kogan, J., concurring).

If <u>Hoffman</u> did not establish mere venue, it certainly could not establish subject matter jurisdiction. The reason is obvious: to grant <u>Brady</u> relief, the Leon County Circuit Court would have to vacate a judgment and sentence imposed by another circuit court. One circuit court cannot sit in review of final judgments entered by different circuit courts. See <u>State v. Gary</u>, 609 So.2d 129 1, 1294 (Fla. 1992) (order by successor judge in one circuit inappropriate because it amounted to appellate review of the legality of venue order by predecessor judge from another circuit; despite successor's lack of appellate jurisdiction). See **also** Art. V, §4(b)(1), Fla. Const. (generally, district courts of appeal have jurisdiction to hear appeals of right from final judgments or orders of "trial courts").

In its "Order Clarifying the Order of October 30, 1995," the trial specifically and correctly held it did "not have subject matter jurisdiction to consider Brady claims as part of a ch. 119 proceeding." (App. D hereto, at p. 1) Under Art. V, Fla. Const.; Asay; and State v. Gary; the trial court was correct. Apparently, Johnson cannot understand the significant difference between the Leon County Circuit Court's undisputed jurisdiction to hear and grant relief upon a ch. 119 action, and its total lack of jurisdiction to hear and grant relief upon a Brady claim brought by an inmate tried elsewhere. This Court should find no difficulty in discerning the difference, and disregard Johnson's hyperbole that he was placed in an "impossible situation." (initial brief, p. 3 1)

Johnson concludes Issue II by arguing, for the first time, that the lower court's **Brady** ruling deprived him of access to courts. He then claims the same ruling deprived him of effective assistance of postconviction counsel. (initial brief, p. 29-3 1) These two points are not preserved, due to Johnson's failure to raise them below. Roberts, Steinhorst, supra.

Johnson has been litigating his conviction and sentence for 18 years, ample opportunity to bring a **Brady** claim in the bourt whereine was tried. s 1 y

^{&#}x27;At page 22 of the final hearing transcript, Johnson's counsel urged Johnson was "sort of stuck without a forum . . . to make sure that there is no Brady materials." This terse and conclusory observation did not preserve the access to courts argument Johnson now advances.

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